Extended Research Article



Enhancing referrals to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: the EN-CAMHS mixed-methods study

Kathryn M Abel,^{1,2} Pauline Whelan,^{2,3} Lesley-Anne Carter,³ Heidi Tranter,^{1,2*} Charlotte Stockton-Powdrell,³ Kerry Gutridge,¹ Lamiece Hassan,³ Rachel Elvins⁴ and Julian Edbrooke-Childs⁵

¹Centre for Women's Mental Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK ²GM.Digital Research Unit, Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, UK ³Centre for Health Informatics, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK ⁴Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Manchester Children's Hospital, Manchester, UK ⁵Anna Freud Centre, London, UK

*Corresponding author heidi.tranter@manchester.ac.uk

Published June 2025 DOI: 10.3310/GYDW4507

Plain language summary

Enhancing referrals to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: the EN-CAMHS mixed-methods study

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2025; Vol. 13: No. 21 DOI: 10.3310/GYDW4507

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

N ational Health Service Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services are specialist teams that assess and treat children and young people with mental health problems. Overall, 497,502 children were referred between 2020 and 2021, almost one quarter of these were unsuccessful. Reasons for unsuccessful referrals include: not following the correct referral process, or because the child is not deemed to meet referral criteria. This is often distressing for children and families who are turned away, and costly to services because time is wasted reviewing referrals which should have been referred for alternative help.

The overarching aim of this study is to understand fully what the problems are and how we can develop solutions that can improve the success of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services referrals. We analysed patient data from nine Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, and referral data from four National Health Service Trusts to look at factors, such as age, gender and ethnicity of children and young people referred to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services. There was wide variation in the numbers of referrals between and within Trusts and in the proportions not being successful for treatment. Problems identified included: confusion about what Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services do and do not provide; and lack of support provided during the referral process.

We also talked to over 60 individuals who have different perspectives on the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services referral process (children and young people, parents and carers, key referrers, and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services professionals) and asked about the current difficulties within the referral process. Next, we talked to 45 children and young people, people working in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and health professionals about potential solutions to improve the referral process. We shared our findings with professionals who influence policy, and at an event with young people, parents/carers, key referrers and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services professionals to determine what we should do next. Patient and public involvement was an important aspect of this project and we had extensive input across all stages to ensure findings reflected the views of children and young people, parents and professionals.

Health and Social Care Delivery Research

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as Health Services and Delivery Research (Volumes 1-9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HSDR programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number NIHR131379. The contractual start date was in May 2021. The draft manuscript began editorial review in July 2023 and was accepted for publication in August 2024. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2025 Abel *et al.* This work was produced by Abel *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).